# **Recent Publications in this Series**

## 6/2017 Essi Päivärinta

Cloudberry (Rubus chamaemorus) and Its Components as Chemopreventive Constituents in Apc<sup>Min</sup> Mice and Human Colon Adenocarcinoma Cells 7/2017 Tuija Kantala Presence of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) and Markers for HEV Infection in Production Swine, Human Patients with Unexplained Hepatitis, and Veterinarians in Finland 8/2017 Mantas Survila Immune Responses to Pathogen Infection in Arabidopsis 9/2017 Jessica M. Coyne Genetics of Longitudinal Growth Data 10/2017 Xing Wan Leuconostoc bacteriocins and Their Application in Genome Editing 11/2017 Inka Reijonen Chemical Bioavailability of Chromium and Vanadium Species in Soil: Risk Assessment of the Use of Steel Industry Slags as Liming Materials 12/2017 Senja Laakso Practice Approach to Experimental Governance. Experiences from the Intersection of Everyday Life and Local Experimentation 13/2017 Paulina Deptula A Multifaceted Study of Propionibacterium Freudenreichii, the Food-Grade Producer of Active Vitamin B12 14/2017 Taneli Tirkkonen Porcine mycobacteriosis Caused by Mycobacterium avium subspecies hominissuis 15/2017 Pär Davidsson Oligogalacturonide Signalling in Plant Innate Immunity 16/2017 Kean-Jin Lim Scots Pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) Heartwood Formation and Wounding Stress: A View from the Transcriptome 17/2017 Marja Rantanen Light and Temperature as Developmental Signals in Woodland Strawberry and Red Raspberry 18/2017 Sara Kovanen Molecular Epidemiology of Campylobacter jejuni in the Genomic Era 19/2017 Johanna Muurinen Antibiotic Resistance in Agroecosystems 20/2017 Johanna Laakso Phosphorus in the Sediment of Agricultural Constructed Wetlands 21/2017 Sadegh Mansouri

Plant Biomass-Acting Enzymes Produced by the Ascomycete Fungi Penicillium subrubescens and Aspergillus niger and Their Potential in Biotechnological Applications

## 22/2017 Anna Salomaa

Actors' Roles and Perceptions on the Opportunities to Increase Nature Conservation Effectiveness: a Study of Interaction Between Knowledge and Policy Process

## 23/2017 Anniina Le Tortorec

Bioluminescence of Toxic Dinoflagellates in the Baltic Sea - from Genes to Models





YEB

TANJA PAASELA

The Stilbene Biosynthetic Pathway and Its Regulation

in Scots

Pine

DISSERTATIONES SCHOLA DOCTORALIS SCIENTIAE CIRCUMIECTALIS, ALIMENTARIAE, BIOLOGICAE. UNIVERSITATIS HELSINKIENSIS

# 24/2017

# TANJA PAASELA

The Stilbene Biosynthetic Pathway and Its **Regulation in Scots Pine** 



DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY DOCTORAL PROGRAMME IN PLANT SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI

The stilbene biosynthetic pathway and its regulation in Scots pine

Tanja Paasela

Department of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

The Doctoral School in Environmental, Food, and Biological Sciences (YEB) Doctoral Programme in Plant Sciences (DPPS)

## ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public examination, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, in lecture room 228, Lab-rakennus (Koetilantie 5) on the 15<sup>th</sup> of December 2017, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2017

Supervisor: Professor Teemu Teeri Department of Agricultural Sciences University of Helsinki

Members of the follow-up group:

- '

- ,

Professor Jaakko Kangasjärvi Department of Biosciences University of Helsinki

Docent Anna Kärkönen Natural Resources Institute Finland, LUKE ' -

. -

Reviewers: Associate-Professor Edouard Pesquet Department of Ecology, Environment and Plant Sciences Stockholm University

> Docent Tuula Jyske Natural Resources Institute Finland, LUKE

- Opponent: Professor Jörg Bohlmann Michael Smith Laboratories The University of British Columbia
- Custos: Professor Teemu Teeri Department of Agricultural Sciences University of Helsinki

ISSN 2342-5423 (print) ISSN 2342-5431 (online) ISBN 978-951-51-3910-8 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-3911-5 (PDF) https://ethesis.helsinki.fi Hansaprint 2017

Cover: Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) seedling (Kean-Jin Lim). Blue-stain fungus infected sapwood of Scots pine (Sari Kainulainen).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

- '

- .

TAE	BLE OF CONTENTS	. 3		
LIST	T OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	. 4		
AU	THOR'S CONTRIBUTION	. 5		
ABBREVIATIONS				
ABS	ABSTRACT7			
1	INTRODUCTION	. 8		
1.1	Secondary metabolism, why is it so diverse?	10		
1.2	Extractives determine the durability of heartwood	13		
1.3	Stilbenes as phytoalexins in active defense	17		
1.4	Enzymatic steps in the stilbene biosynthesis pathway	17		
1.	4.1 Phenylalanine ammonia lyase	17		
1.	4.2 Activation of cinnamic acid	18		
1.	4.5 Shibelle syllulase	19		
1.		1)		
1.5	Regulation of the stilbene pathway	20		
1.6	Theories of heartwood formation	20		
1.7 2	Chemical and cytological changes during heartwood formation	<b>22</b> 25		
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	26		
4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27		
4.1	Expression of secondary metabolite pathways during heartwood formation	27		
4.2	Programmed cell death and timing of heartwood formation	29		
4.3	Expression of secondary metabolite pathways in response to UV-C stress induction	29		
4.4	Transcriptional regulation of the stilbene pathway	32		
4.5	Chemical genetics and hormonal regulation of the stilbene pathway	33		
4.6	Characterization of stilbene-specific O-methyltransferase	33		
4.7	Candidates for cinnamate-activating-CoA ligase	34		
<b>4.8</b> 5	Is there a division of labor between pine stilbene synthase pathway genes? CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	<b>35</b> 36		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS				
DEE	REFERENCES AO			
KEF	KEFEKENCES			

۰.

, -,

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals

۰.

. -

Ι

- '

Lim K.-J., **Paasela T.**, Harju A., Venäläinen M., Paulin L., Auvinen P., Kärkkäinen K. and Teeri T.H. (2016). Developmental changes in Scots pine transcriptome during heartwood formation. Plant Physiology 172: 1403-1417 doi:10.1104/pp.16.01082.

Π

**Paasela T.**, Lim K.-J., Harju A., Venäläinen M., Paulin L., Auvinen P., Kärkkäinen K. and Teeri T.H. (2017). Scots pine transcriptional responses to UV-C treatment and inhibition of translation: Stilbene biosynthesis is a primary defense response. Manuscript.

III

**Paasela T.**, Lim K.-J., Pietiäinen M. and Teeri T.H. (2017). The *O*-methyltransferase PMT2 mediates methylation of pinosylvin in Scots pine. New Phytologist 214: 1537–1550 doi:10.1111/nph.14480.

۰.

## **AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION**

Ι

- '

- ,

TP participated in planning of the experiments, conducted optimization of RT-qPCR analysis and did the RT-qPCR with K-JL. TP participated in interpretation of the results and writing of the manuscript.

Π

TP did most of the experimental work, except the construction of the RNA-seq libraries and bioinformatics analysis. TP wrote the manuscript together with THT.

III

TP did all the experimental work, except the construction of the RNA-seq libraries and RT-qPCR analysis. TP wrote the manuscript together with THT.

, -,

' -

## ABBREVIATIONS

-

4CL	4-coumaroyl CoA ligase
ABA	abscisic acid
ACC	1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid
AP2/ERF	apetala2/ethylene response factor
BFN	bifunctional nuclease
bHLH	basic helix-loop-helix
bZIP	basic leucine zipper
CHI	chalcone isomerase
CHS	chalcone synthase
CHX	cycloheximide
CML	compound middle lamella
CNL	cinnamate ligase
GRAS	Transcription factor family including GIBBERELLIC-ACID INSENSITIVE ( <u>G</u> AI), REPRESSOR OF GAI ( <u>RGA</u> ) and SCARECROW ( <u>S</u> CR)
GUS	β-glucuronidase
HW	heartwood
IAA	indole-3-acetic acid
MEP	2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate
MVA	mevalonic acid
MYA	million years ago
MYB	Transcription factor family including the mammalian MYELOBLASTOSIS ONCOGENE
NAC	Transcription factor family including NO APICAL MERISTEM ( <u>NAM</u> ), ARABIDOPSIS TRANSCRIPTION ACTIVATION FACTOR 1/2 [ <u>A</u> TAF1/2] and CUP-SHAPED COTYLEDON 2 ( <u>C</u> UC2)
NGS	next-generation sequencing
PAL	phenylalanine ammonia lyase
PCD	programmed cell death
PMT	pinosylvin O-methyltransferase
PS	pinosylvin
PSME	pinosylvin monomethyl ether
ROS	reactive oxygen species
STS	stilbene synthase
SW	sapwood
TF	transcription factor
TZ	transition zone
UTR	untranslated region
UV	ultraviolet
WRKY	transcription factor family containing a highly conserved WRKY (tryptophan/arginine/lysine/tyrosine) domain

' -

. -

- .

#### ABSTRACT

Conifers dominate the boreal forests of the Northern Hemisphere, and especially members of the family Pinaceae have great economic and ecological significance. Part of their success is thought to arise from the vast array of secondary metabolites they produce. The products of secondary metabolism are essential for plants to survive in the ever-changing environment. In Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.), two groups of secondary metabolites, stilbenes and resin acids, are crucial for decay resistance of heartwood timber and for active defense responses against herbivores and fungal pathogens. Several studies have shown that stilbenes improve decay resistance of pine heartwood. Since there is wide variation in the concentration of stilbenes between individuals and the trait has high heritability, it may be possible to breed heartwood that is more decayresistant. However, breeding for heartwood properties is slow, since the decay resistance characteristics can be estimated at the earliest from 30-year-old trees. Early selection methods utilizing genetic markers or chemical screening are needed, but we do not yet understand which genes control the biosynthesis of stilbenes and what the genetic differences are between individuals that explain the variation in the capacity to produce stilbenes. Importantly, there is genetic correlation between stress-induced stilbene biosynthesis in seedlings and the heartwood stilbene content in their adult mother trees.

Here, we examined the pine transcriptional responses under two conditions that were previously known to activate stilbene biosynthesis: heartwood formation in adult trees and ultraviolet (UV)-C treatment of needles in seedlings. We found that these two conditions had very little in common, except for the activation of stilbene pathway genes. For example, the regulators of the two responses seemed not to be shared. The activation of the stilbene pathway in response to UV-C treatment occurred a few hours after the onset of the treatment and was independent of translation. Stilbene biosynthesis seems to be an early defense response in Scots pine.

Heartwood formation, an important developmental process in the senescence of secondary xylem, is poorly understood. Based on transcriptomic analysis, stilbene biosynthesis occurs *in situ* in the transition zone between the sapwood and heartwood, but resin acids were synthesized primarily in the sapwood. Bifunctional nuclease, an enzyme involved in the process of developmentally programmed cell death (dPCD), is

a useful marker for heartwood formation and aided us in defining the timing of the process, from spring to late autumn. Expression of this marker, which is strictly confined to dPCD conditions, further clarified that heartwood formation truly is a process that is initiated by intrinsic programming instead of environmental cues.

The transcriptomic data revealed that the expression of the previously characterized pinosylvin *O*-methyltransferase gene, *PMT1*, was not induced under stilbene-forming conditions. A new PMT-encoding gene, *PMT2*, was identified by coexpression analysis. The gene showed an inducible expression pattern very similar to that of the stilbene synthase gene under all conditions studied. PMT2 furthermore methylated pinosylvin with high specificity, in contrast to PMT1, which accepted several substrates.

#### **1** INTRODUCTION

- '

Conifers dominated the flora for 160 million years (225-65 million years ago (MYA)) until the emergence and rapid expansion of the angiosperms, at the expense of gymnosperm abundance and diversity. The origin of the pine family Pinaceae is not known, but some evidence places it in the Late Triassic (235-208 MYA), and the genus Pinus arose in the Cretaceous 145 MYA (Donoghue & Doyle 2000; Miller 1977). Angiosperms dominate most terrestrial habitats with approximately 250 000 species, while the number of conifer species is only about 550 (Figure 1). Despite the rapid expansion of the angiosperms, conifers still dominate the boreal forests of the Northern Hemisphere, especially members of the family Pinaceae, many of which play significant roles in economics and the environment (Donoghue & Doyle 2000; Brodribb et al. 2012). The persistence of conifers among angiosperms is thought to arise from their adaptations to nutrient-poor soils and by their narrow tracheid structure, which is more tolerant of embolism caused by freezing, but a part of their success is explained by the vast array of secondary metabolites, such as phenolics and terpenoids, that confer resistance to many invading pests and pathogens (Phillips & Croteau 1999; Brodribb et al. 2012). Many of these secondary metabolites are produced actively, not only in response to harmful invaders, but also to developmental signals during the poorly understood process of heartwood (HW) formation.

The formation of HW, the innermost part of the stem with no living cells, is an important process trees use to control the amount of energy-consuming sapwood (SW) and to protect the dead plant material from microorganisms (Spicer 2005). In addition, it is a crucial determinant of the quality of the wood as a construction material in terms of durability and aesthetics, both of which are dependent on species-specific extractives. The HW of certain species is also a source of important chemicals for the fragrance industry and has been studied extensively for possible pharmaceutical applications (Kampe & Magel 2013; Jones et al. 2011).

. '

Although important, there are several characteristics of conifers that hamper elucidation of the biosynthetic and regulatory pathways of these compounds. Their enormous genome size (20-40 Gb) has made sequencing of conifer genomes impossible until very recent years, when several next-generation sequencing (NGS) techniques have emerged, although it is still an extremely large task. The lack of mutant lines and efficient transformation techniques together with the slow growth of coniferous species makes metabolite profiling, transcriptomic analyses, and enzyme biochemistry crucially important for functional genomics.

NGS has made possible inexpensive and in-depth studies of plant responses to various environmental and developmental cues at the level of the whole transcriptome. Together with coexpression analyses, NGS has become a powerful tool for gene discovery in candidate gene approaches and in elucidation of biochemical pathways. Temporal and spatial localization of gene expression gives important clues that a given enzyme is involved in a pathway *in planta*, especially in species whose function cannot be confirmed by reverse genetics.

, -,



Figure 1. The major evolutionary events of conifers on the geological time scale. Redrawn based on Valentine (1978), Graham (1993), and Campbell & Reece (2005). MYA, million years ago.

#### 1.1 Secondary metabolism, why is it so diverse?

Early interpretations saw secondary metabolites simply as (toxic) waste products of primary metabolism that the plant cell secreted or sequestered in vacuoles (Hartmann 2007). The current view, however, defines secondary metabolism as processes that are not needed for growth and development, but are often essential for plants to survive and interact with the environment. Secondary metabolites are needed for instance in defense against abiotic and biotic stresses, plant-plant communication, and for pollinator

attraction. The qualitative and quantitative secondary metabolite compositions in plants are diverse and vary within and between species (Kliebenstein & Osbourn 2012; Hartmann 2007). Terpenoids are excellent examples of diversity in secondary metabolites, with more than 70 000 different compounds identified (Vickers et al. 2014). Primary metabolism, in contrast, is common to all plants. It consists of processes that are needed to construct and maintain the cell and are essential for photosynthetic and respiratory metabolism, as well as for growth and development (Hartmann 2007; Kliebenstein & Osbourn 2012). Division into primary and secondary metabolism is not always clear. Some compounds have both primary and secondary functions.

-

The reason why an individual plant produces massive amounts of different metabolites, often seemingly inactive, has long intrigued scientists, not the least because investments in secondary metabolism divert resources away from growth and reproduction. Pathways for new secondary metabolites arise by gene duplication. The most common fate for a duplicated gene is that mutations silence the gene function; it becomes a pseudogene and is lost over time (pseudogenization) (Lynch & Conery 2000; Ober 2010). In subfunctionalization, the genes retain their original activity, but may lose specific expression domains, so that both copies are needed for the complete ancestral function (Lynch & Conery 2000; Ober 2010). A newly duplicated gene may, however, gain a novel function in the process called neofunctionalization through mutations in the coding region that alter the substrate specificity or in the regulatory areas that change the localization of the gene product, and eventually the enzyme encoded may become part of a new metabolic pathway. The genes encoding stilbene synthase (STS), enzymes at the focus of this thesis, have repeatedly emerged as neofunctionalized duplicates of chalcone synthase (CHS) genes, which, in contrast, is common to all plants (Tropf et al. 1994).

Vast arrays of different types of metabolites are needed for plants to defend themselves against multiple types of biotic and abiotic stressors, since as sessile organisms they cannot escape them. A driving force for the structural diversity of secondary metabolites is believed to be the promiscuous nature of secondary metabolism enzymes. Many enzymes can accept and modify different related structures, which aids their integration into new metabolic pathways (Moghe & Last 2015; Weng 2014). Furthermore, some enzymes are also highly promiscuous in their catalytic activity. For instance, the

sesquiterpene synthases (STPs)  $\delta$ -selinene and  $\gamma$ -humulene synthases from grand fir (Abies grandis) produced in vitro 34 and 52 different structures from the same precursor, respectively (Steele et al. 1998). There are two often-cited hypotheses why chemical diversity is maintained in plants even in the absence of active roles for the compounds. One hypothesis is the so-called 'screening hypothesis', which is based on the idea that when a new metabolite arises through mutations, the likelihood of it being active is relatively low, and this shapes the evolution of secondary metabolite biochemistry (Jones et al. 1991; Firn & Jones 2003). The higher diversity of the various structures increases the chances for developing new highly active metabolites, and organisms that can generate and retain large numbers of chemicals would be favored. Plant-enemy coevolution, the so-called 'chemical arms race', is another hypothesis explaining the diversity of defensive compounds. In this, the chemicals produced by the plant furnish protection against invaders, and when the enemy gains resistance against one chemical, another compound is produced, and so on (Firn & Jones 2003; Speed et al. 2015). The theoretical model of plant-herbivore coevolution predicts that diversity of compounds increases plant fitness and decreases the fitness of the herbivore (Speed et al. 2015).

Although mechanisms of how new enzymatic functions appear are known, it is not well understood how whole metabolic pathways that consist of multiple steps are assembled from duplicated genes (Ober 2010; Kliebenstein & Osbourn 2012). Clustering is common in bacteria in which genes are organized in operons, but are only seldom detected in eukaryotes (Chu et al. 2011). However, some secondary metabolite pathways in plants are clustered physically in the genome. Clustering facilitates coinheritance of the gene combination. Losing one member of the cluster can lead to accumulation of toxic intermediates, which indicates that clustering may be a way to protect plants from these compounds. Clustering also aids coregulation of the pathway when the clustered genes are made accessible for transcription through chromatin modifications (Chu et al. 2011; Field & Osbourn 2008). In many cases, pathwayencoding genes may have scattered throughout the genome and still have ended up working as part of a common metabolic pathway. Adapting genes one by one to any pathway seems complicated, since it requires that intermediate steps along the process should be somehow beneficial to the plant. It is believed that these multistep pathways may have evolved by modification of genes that were already part of transcriptional or

. '

biochemical modules. However, this alone does not explain the evolution of some wellknown pathways, either. Multistep pathways have seemingly evolved by adapting and combining different modules in addition to recruitment of single enzymes. As an example, the glucosinolate pathway has evolved by the combination of modules for branched amino-acid biosynthesis, cyanogenic glucoside synthesis, sulfur assimilation, and glutathione utilization, and the backbone is further modified by independent recruitment of single enzymes (Kliebenstein & Osbourn 2012).

-

The evolution of the phenylpropanoid pathway is considered to be one of the key factors that facilitated the movement of plants to terrestrial habitats by providing a screen for ultraviolet (UV)-B radiation and eventually structural support, long-distance water transport, and protection from herbivores and pathogens (Weng & Chapple 2010; Weng 2014). The central phenylpropanoid pathway, common to all plants, is dependent on the shikimate pathway that generates the aromatic amino acid phenylalanine, the precursor for all phenylpropanoids. In the central position of the various pathways is 4coumaroyl-coenzyme A (CoA), which is utilized in the biosynthesis of several groups of secondary metabolites, such as flavonoids, lignans, lignin, and sporopollenin (Figure 2; Vogt 2010). Chalcones, flavones, and flavonols appeared 500 MYA in the ancestors of bryophytes (mosses, liverworts and hornworts) after the appearance of the core phenylpropanoid and malonyl-CoA pathways (Koes et al. 1994; Stafford 1991). The key enzyme involved in biosynthesis of flavonoids is CHS, an enzyme shared by all land plants. Stilbenes are found sporadically in various plant families, such as Vitaceae, Pinaceae, Fabaceae, and Poaceae (Chong et al. 2009). There is seemingly no ancestral STS-encoding gene, but STSs have arisen independently in distinct species from CHS several times in evolution (Tropf et al. 1994). STS genes have evolved from CHS genes by neofunctionalization; in fact, only three amino-acid changes in CHS are sufficient to convert CHS to an enzyme with low STS activity (Tropf et al. 1994).

#### 1.2 Extractives determine the durability of heartwood

One fundamental change that occurs when SW is converted to HW is the biosynthesis of extractives that impregnate the wood and function as a passive barrier against invading fungal pathogens. SW is that part of the wood that contains living cells, reserve materials, and is responsible for transporting water and minerals. HW, in contrast, is in the center of the trunk and contains no living cells. In HW, reserve materials have been converted to HW extractives.

HW substances with fungitoxic properties in Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) are composed mostly of the stilbenes pinosylvin (PS), its mono- and dimethylated derivatives, and resin acids of the pimaric and abietic acid type, with the latter predominating (Willför et al. 2003; Hovelstad et al. 2006). Pine stilbenes differ structurally from angiosperm stilbenes. PS lacks one hydroxyl group, compared with resveratrol, because the pine STS preferentially uses cinnamoyl-CoA as a substrate over 4-coumaroyl-CoA, which is used in angiosperms. Curiously, no resveratrol has been detected in pine, even though the STS can synthesize it. In contrast, products from both precursors can be found in flavonoids. Pine species can produce the unusual flavonoids pinocembrin and pinobanksin, which are derived from CHS activity against cinnamoyl-CoA instead of 4-coumaroyl-CoA as a substrate, in addition to typical 4-coumaroyl-CoA-derived flavonoids (Fliegmann et al. 1992; Pietarinen et al. 2006). Pinocembrin exists in low concentrations in HW and knots, but typical flavonoids have been determined only in needles (Willför et al. 2003). Lignans, optically active dimers of monolignols, are not present in stem HW, but are present in knot HW and are induced by mechanical wounding in SW (Willför et al. 2003; Harju et al. 2009). Both lignin and lignans are derived from 4-coumaroyl-CoA, also in pine (Suzuki & Umezawa 2007). The major phenylpropanoid pathways in Scots pine are shown in Figure 2. HW also contains different fatty acids and sterols, which in contrast may reduce the durability of the wood serving as nutrients (Fries et al. 2000).

-



**Figure 2.** The phenylpropanoid pathway to flavonoids, lignin, and stilbenes in Scots pine. PMT, pinosylvin O-methyltransferase; CCoAOMT, caffeoyl-CoA O-methyltransferase; STS, stilbene synthase; 4CL, 4-coumaroyl-CoA ligase; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia lyase; CHI, chalcone isomerase; CHS, chalcone synthase; CCR, cinnamoyl-CoA reductase; HCT, hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA shikimate/quinate hydroxycinnamoyl transferase; CAD, cinnamoyl alcohol dehydrogenase; C3H, coumarate 3-hydroxylase; CNL, cinnamate ligase.

Several studies have shown the importance of extractives, mainly phenolic compounds and resin acids, for the durability of HW. The concentrations of the stilbenes PS and its monomethyl ether have strong negative correlation with the mass loss of HW caused by wood-destroying fungi (Harju & Venäläinen 2006; Leinonen et al. 2008). There is wide variation in the amount of stilbenes in the HW between individuals; the concentration of PS has especially high heritability (Harju & Venäläinen 2006; Partanen et al. 2011). Hence, it may be possible to breed for increasingly durable HW. The first annual rings of HW develop in Scots pine at ages of 15-20 years, while reliable estimation of HW properties is possible only around the age of 30 years (Venäläinen 2002). To fulfill the aims of breeding, early selection of HW properties is essential. One interesting means to do this has arisen from the study of Harju et al. (2009), which showed a high offspring-parent heritability for PS. The induced stilbene production capacity in response to wounding of seedlings had a positive genetic correlation with the concentration of stilbenes in the HW of their mother trees. Since the developmentally regulated, constitutive stilbene biosynthesis seems to be correlated with the inducible biosynthesis, wounding of xylem was suggested as an early testing method for the selection of high producers for the breeding of more durable HW and, consequently, speeding up the breeding of HW properties (Harju et al. 2009). Furthermore, this suggests that breeding for more durable HW would simultaneously increase the active defense capacity of trees.

It has been proposed that HW extractives confer protection against fungi by various means. In addition to direct fungicidal activity, stilbenes are strong free-radical scavengers. The antioxidant properties of compounds are important, since many fungal pathogens use radicals to break down plant cell walls (Belt et al. 2017a; Schultz & Nicholas 2000). The stilbenes and resin acids also have water-repelling activity, which may have an important function in decreasing the water content in the HW and therefore hampering the metabolic functions of fungi (Eberhardt et al. 1994; Venäläinen et al. 2004). Stilbenes in pine HW consist of two major forms, PS and its monomethylated derivative, but minute amounts of its dimethylated derivative can also be found. More than half of the PS is methylated, but the effect of this modification in terms of activity against wood-destroying fungi has not been clearly shown. In general, methylation of hydroxyl groups affects the hydrophobic properties of the compound and changes its solubility (Lam et al. 2007). It has been suggested that PS is more toxic and a broadspectrum fungicide. Pinosylvin monomethyl ether (PSME), in contrast, has more specific activity, while methylation increases the bioactivity of the stilbenes against brown-rot fungi (Schultz et al. 1990; Hart 1981). Synergistic effects of HW extractives are possible, but have not been studied.

-

#### 1.3 Stilbenes as phytoalexins in active defense

Phytoalexins are defined as low-molecular-weight compounds that are synthesized and accumulate as a response to microorganisms or other elicitors at the site of the infection and are absent in uninduced tissues (Ebel 1986). Producing compounds only when needed is believed important for minimizing the costs of defense (Hartmann 2007). The first studies of active production of stilbenes in pine in response to stress were experiments showing strong induction of biosynthesis in response to UV-C stress in seedlings (Gehlert et al. 1990; Schoeppner & Kindl 1979; Preisig-Müller et al. 1999). Induced production of stilbenes as a response to wounding, fungal infection, and attack by wood wasps in the SW of adult trees, as well as in response to wounding of xylem in seedlings, has been described (Kemp & Burden 1986; Hillis & Inoue 1968; Jorgensen 1961; Kovalchuk et al. 2017; Harju et al. 2009). The wounded and infected area forms a 'reaction zone' where parenchyma cells lose their starch, die in advance of the fungal invasion, and the wood is impregnated with phytoalexins mimicking, in some aspects, the changes seen in HW formation (Kemp & Burden 1986; Shain & Hillis 1973). Pathogens also induce stilbene production in pine cell cultures and seedlings (Lange et al. 1994; Bonello et al. 1993; Kovalchuk et al. 2017), while ozone fumigation induced stilbene production, enzyme activity, and STS gene expression in pine seedlings (Zinser et al. 1998, 2000; Rosemann et al. 1991). Thus, many reactive oxygen species (ROS)producing stress treatments induce stilbene biosynthesis both in needles and in the xylem. Studies undertaken before this thesis focused on following stilbene production or the kinetics of gene expression/enzymatic activity, and no large-scale transcriptomic analyses have been done.

#### 1.4 Enzymatic steps in the stilbene biosynthesis pathway

#### 1.4.1 Phenylalanine ammonia lyase

The pine stilbene pathway shares with the lignin and flavonoid pathways the first step in the core phenylpropanoid pathway, the conversion of phenylalanine to cinnamate by phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL). In jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*), PAL is encoded by 8-10 genes. The expressions of five genes (*pal1-pal5*) were studied in the xylem, needles, and cell cultures (Butland et al. 1998). *Pal1* was the only constitutively expressed gene in the cell cultures. All the others were expressed only after fungal

17

stimulus. All the genes, except *pal3*, were expressed in the developing xylem. This suggests that there is functional divergence between the PAL-encoding genes in jack pine. A gene identical to the constitutive jack pine's *pal1* was also isolated from the developing xylem of loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.) and a similar gene from Scots pine megagametophytes (Butland et al. 1998; Dvornyk et al. 2002; Whetten & Sederoff 1992).

## 1.4.2 Activation of cinnamic acid

-

After the first step, the pine stilbene pathway diverges from the typical flavonoid and lignin pathways, since PS is formed by condensing cinnamoyl-CoA, instead of 4-coumaroyl-CoA, with malonyl-CoA. The enzyme responsible for this activity in pine has not been described, and 4CL (4-coumarate-CoA ligase) enzymes, in general, utilize cinnamic acid poorly as a substrate. There are, however, a few exceptions found in angiosperm species. Raspberry (*Rubus idaeus*) Ri4CL2 preferentially activates cinnamate over 4-coumarate, caffeate, ferulate, and sinapate (Kumar & Ellis 2003). Aaron's beard (*Hypericum calycinum*) and petunia (*Petunia hybrida*) have specific cinnamate-activating enzymes (CNLs) involved in the biosynthesis of benzoic acid and its derivatives. These enzymes have low sequence similarity with 4CLs, and they form a separate clade with other benzenoid-related CoA ligases (Klempien et al. 2012; Gaid et al. 2012).

Three 4CLs (4CL1, 4CL2, and 4CL3) have been characterized from loblolly pine. Two of the genes, 4CL1 and 4CL2, had identical coding regions and were preferentially expressed in the xylem (Zhang & Chiang 1997; Chen et al. 2014; Voo et al. 1995). In different experimental systems, the enzymatic activities against different substrates showed varying results. In general, 4-coumaric acid, caffeic acid, and ferulic acid were favorable substrates, but utilization of cinnamic acid was either not detected or very low (Chen et al. 2014; Zhang & Chiang 1997). In other experiments, the activity could be measured, but the K<sub>m</sub> for cinnamic acid was ten times higher than for other substrates (Voo et al. 1995). Downregulation of 4CL in Monterey pine (*Pinus radiata*), the enzyme corresponding to 4CL1 and 4CL2 in loblolly pine, reduced the lignin content, confirming the involvement of the enzyme in lignin biosynthesis (Wagner et al. 2009). 4CL3 from loblolly pine, in contrast, was expressed preferentially in the needles and roots, and no expression could be detected in the xylem (Chen et al. 2014).

Heterologous expression of the enzyme in poplar did not affect the amount of lignin. Instead, the amounts of 3-*O*-caffeoyl quinate and cinnamoyl-quinate increased, while the glucose esters of the hydroxycinnamates decreased. The accumulation of cinnamoyl-quinate suggested that the enzyme could utilize cinnamate to form cinnamoyl-CoA, which is then converted further to cinnamoyl-quinate, but the activity of the recombinant enzyme did not support this finding (Chen et al. 2014). Based on what is known about 4CL enzymes in pine, it is likely that the enzyme participating in stilbene biosynthesis in pine remains uncovered.

#### 1.4.3 Stilbene synthase

-

STS is encoded by a small gene family in different *Pinus* species. Two genes have been described from eastern white pine (*Pinus strobus*) (Raiber et al. 1995), five genes (*PST1-PST5*) from Scots pine (Preisig-Müller et al. 1999) and three genes from Japanese red pine (*Pinus densiflora*) (Kodan et al. 2002). In Scots pine, different family members had very similar coding regions with an overall identity of over 95%, but the introns and, more importantly, the promoters varied substantially (Preisig-Müller et al. 1999). The promoter activities of P<sub>PST-1</sub>, P<sub>PST-2</sub>, and P<sub>PST-3</sub> were tested in transgenic tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) and in protoplasts, using the β-glucuronidase (GUS)-encoding gene *uidA* as a reporter. The various promoters were activated to different degrees in response to UV-C, fungal attack, and wounding, P<sub>PST-1</sub> being the most active. They also showed differences in tissue specificities. P<sub>PST-1</sub> and P<sub>PST-3</sub> drove the reporter expression in the vascular bundles of tobacco, unlike P<sub>PST-2</sub>.

Even with highly similar coding regions, the various STS enzymes showed different activities in *in vitro* experiments. In eastern white pine, a single amino-acid change dramatically affected the enzymatic activity and pH dependence (Raiber et al. 1995), while in Japanese red pine, a naturally occurring mutation in the enzyme-encoding gene led, through a frameshift, to a truncated enzyme that escaped feedback inhibition, had higher enzymatic activity, and produced more PS (Kodan et al. 2002).

#### *1.4.4* Pinosylvin O-methyltransferase

A stress-inducible, S-adenosyl-l-methionine-dependent *O*-methyltransferase, PMT1, has been characterized from Scots pine. The gene expression of *PMT1* was induced in response to ozone in the needles and by fungal attack and wounding in the phloem (Chiron et al. 2000a, b). The enzymatic activity was characterized, using both purified

protein from the fungal-elicited cell cultures and recombinant protein produced in *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*). The enzyme had broad substrate specificity. It methylated different stilbene aglycones, hydroxycinnamic acids, flavonoids, and caffeoyl-CoA, many of them with higher activity than PS. Chiron and colleagues suggested that this enzyme could have been responsible for PS methylation *in planta*, but in this thesis we have shown that PMT1 is not specific for the stilbene pathway in Scots pine, but that another *O*-methyltransferase has this function.

#### 1.5 Regulation of the stilbene pathway

- '

It is not known what factors control the stilbene pathway in pine. The pathway is transcriptionally regulated, but no specific transcription factors (TFs) have been identified so far. More is known about the stilbene pathway in grapevine (*Vitis vinifera*), which is activated by similar abiotic and biotic stress conditions as the pathway in pine. Two R2R3-type MYB family TFs, MYB14 and MYB15, have been experimentally proven to regulate *STS* genes in response to pathogen attack, UV-C stress, and during fruit ripening in grapevine (Höll et al., 2013). Other TFs from different families may also be involved, based on coexpression analysis (Wong et al. 2016). Furthermore, the stilbene pathway in grapevine is activated by inhibiting protein phosphatases and is regulated by the plant hormones ethylene and jasmonic acid (Belhadj et al. 2008; Tassoni et al. 2005). Analysis of the promoter of grapevine STS-encoding gene *Vst1* by a deletion series showed, additionally, that separate areas of the promoter are responsible for regulation of the gene expression in response to ozone fumigation, ethylene, and pathogen activities (Grimmig et al. 1997; Schubert et al. 1997).

#### **1.6** Theories of heartwood formation

The tree trunk is roughly divided into bark, phloem, vascular cambium, and secondary xylem. In addition to mechanical support, the secondary xylem is responsible for transport and storage of water, storage of carbohydrates, and active defense against invading insects and pathogens (Spicer 2005). The secondary xylem and phloem are connected through radially oriented parenchyma cells. In most tree species, the amount of secondary xylem is controlled, and excess amounts of xylem are converted to HW by developmentally programmed SW senescence in a process called HW formation (Spicer 2005; Bergström 2003; Magel et al. 2001). Not all tree species, however, form HW, and these are called SW trees (Magel et al. 2001). During HW formation, SW goes

through chemical and anatomical changes in a narrow zone called the transition zone (TZ) that is located between the SW and HW (Bergström 2003).

-

The factors that trigger and regulate HW formation are unknown, although several hypotheses exist. The most crucial factor believed to control HW formation is the amount of SW needed to sustain foliar demands, the so-called 'pipe model theory'. The excess amounts of respiring SW are converted to HW to save resources. However, the experimental evidence to prove this is conflicting (Bergström et al. 2004; Beauchamp et al. 2013; Gartner et al. 2000; Taylor et al. 2002). The most accepted theory is that HW formation is an aging process, but in contrast to prior hypotheses in which ray parenchyma (RP) cells gradually lose their metabolic activity and die due to low oxygen content and high CO<sub>2</sub> levels, it is now understood as an active, controlled process of senescence (Spicer 2005; Spicer & Holbrook 2007).

Involvement of plant hormones controlling HW formation has been suggested. Since other aspects of wood formation are controlled by crosstalk of several hormones, it would not be surprising if secondary xylem senescence were under hormonal control as well. Vascular cambium activity is controlled by auxin, cytokinin, and ethylene, and xylem differentiation by auxin, cytokinin, brassinosteroids, and gibberellins (Ye & Zhong 2015). Localized and controlled conversion of SW into HW suggests that it is a highly regulated process, as are other aspects of wood formation. Very little, however, is known about the involvement of hormones in HW formation. Ethylene may play a role in HW formation. Ethylene treatment increased resin acid, PS, and its derivative production in the SW of Scots pine and Monterey pine (Nilsson et al. 2002; Shain & Hillis 1973), and ethylene production was higher in the TZ than in the outer SW during the dormant season in Monterey pine (Shain & Hillis 1973). Involvement of auxin has also been suggested, but there is no strong experimental evidence to support this (Shigo & Hillis 1973). One study, however, showed that the amount of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) is lower or absent in the TZ than in the SW, and the amount of abscisic acid (ABA) is higher in the TZ than in the SW of Scots pine (Beauchamp 2011). The gibberellic acid GA24 was detected both in the SW and TZ together with ABA derivatives, but no differences in concentration between the TZ and SW were found.

The factors influencing HW formation may be a combination of many components. However, in general terms it is accepted that the initiation is genetically encoded, but can be influenced by the environment (Shigo & Hillis 1973; Taylor et al. 2002).

## 1.7 Chemical and cytological changes during heartwood formation

The biosynthesis of HW extractives is dependent on the activity of RP cells, which are the only living cells present in SW, in addition to the epithelial cells of the resin ducts, which are responsible for the biosynthesis of oleoresin. The RP are connected to each other and other cell types through the apoplast and the symplast, forming a continuum of cells from the xylem to the phloem (Spicer 2014). The chemical composition of wood and the cytological features of RP have been studied in Scots pine and other conifer species when transformation from SW to HW occurs (Bergström 2003; Nakaba et al. 2006, 2008).

In Scots pine, chemical and cytological changes occur within a single growth ring. In other pine species, extractive accumulation is made visible, using the polyphenol stain potassium permanganate in a wider area of two or three growth rings before the cell-death zone (Nakaba et al. 2008). Chemical changes are initiated earlier than structural changes (Bergström 2003). The decrease in moisture content and pit aspiration occurs early in the process of HW formation, but the exact timing in relation to extractive biosynthesis is unclear. In fully developed HW, the pits are encrusted with HW extractives.

Stilbenes are not present in unwounded SW, and their concentration abruptly increases in the TZ. Later, the concentration decreases somewhat when the HW ages and is therefore higher in the outer than inner HW. Stilbenes in Scots pine have been localized in the cell wall, middle lamella, and lumina of cells and may be bound to lignin (Belt et al. 2017b). Resin acids are already synthesized in the SW, but the amount gradually increases in the TZ, and the resin acid content in the HW is higher than in the SW. Unlike stilbenes, resin acids are not found in the cell wall, but only in the lumina of cells (Belt et al. 2017b). The amount of free fatty acids is higher in the TZ and HW than in the SW, but triglycerides show a contrasting trend (Zheng et al. 2014; Bergström 2003)

-

The middle ray cells without contact with ray tracheids (RTs) are responsible for extractive biosynthesis. They do not have lignified cell walls in the SW; only the compound middle lamella (CML) is present. Lignification begins in the middle of the TZ (Bergström 2003) and is completed in the HW, where the cell walls are completely lignified (Zheng et al. 2014). However, the structure of the fully lignified cell wall of rays is simpler, consisting only of the CML and the S<sub>1</sub> layer, while the S<sub>2</sub> and S<sub>3</sub> layers are missing (Zheng et al. 2014). The data by Zheng et al. (2014) suggest that lignification begins in the TZ and is completed in the HW. Lignification can progress even after programmed cell death (PCD), based on the presence of monolignols and oxidizing enzymes secreted by cells before their death and provided by neighboring cells (Pesquet et al. 2013). The biosynthesis of HW extractives and initiation of lignification is accompanied by the disappearance of storage carbohydrates. The concentration of triglycerides also decreases, and it is believed that both are used for the biosynthesis of extractives (Bergström 2003).

-

.

Cytological studies have shown that in the final stages of HW formation, the nuclei of the RP cells in conifers begin to disappear, and the cells die abruptly within a single growth ring, but the distance from the cambium varies between species, reflecting the fact that the initiation of HW formation in different species varies (Bergström 2003; Nakaba et al. 2006, 2008). The chemical and cytological changes are shown schematically in Figure 3.

.



**Figure 3.** Schematic and simplified presentation of chemical and cytological changes during heartwood formation in pines. The figure is redrawn based on figures and data in Bergström (2003), Nakaba et al. (2008), and Zheng et al. (2014). A: Accumulation of heartwood extractives; Pinosylvins appear abruptly in the middle of the transition zone (TZ), resin acids are synthesized already in the sapwood (SW). The amount of free fatty acids is higher in the heartwood (HW) than in the SW, but the triglycerides show a contrasting trend (Bergström 2003; Zheng et al. 2014). B: Increment cores. Pinosylvins fluoresce under UV light. The border between the wet and dry zones is marked with a pencil. C: Nuclei begin to disappear in the TZ from the middle cells responsible for extractive biosynthesis, and the cell walls lignify (marked with thicker line). The ellipses represent normal nuclei and the other shapes degrading nuclei. The ray parenchyma (RP) cells in contact with the ray tracheids (RTs) do not synthesize extractives and lose their nuclei earlier. In the pine HW, no living cells are present (Bergström 2003; Nakaba et al. 2008).

## 2 AIMS OF THE STUDY

. '

.

Previous studies have shown that stilbenes improve the decay resistance characteristics of HW. The concentrations of stilbenes have high heritability, and there is wide variation in these concentrations among trees, which suggests an opportunity to breed for more decay-resistant HW. Our ultimate aim is to understand what causes these genetic differences in stilbene biosynthesis capacity and to determine the means for early selection, utilizing genetic markers or chemical testing of seedlings.

The specific aims of this thesis were the following:

1) Practically nothing is known about the regulation of the stilbene pathway in pine, except that it is transcriptionally regulated. Our first aim was to characterize the transcriptomic responses to known stilbene-inducing conditions (wounding, UV-C, and HW formation) in pine. The data generated could then be used to answer general questions, such as what occurs at the transcriptional level during HW formation and how pines respond to UV-C treatment, as well as to more specific questions, such as which regulators are coexpressed with STS and may be important for controlling the pathway (I, II).

2) Utilize the transcriptomic data to determine the missing enzymes and possible common regulators of the pathway (II, III).

. -

# **3** MATERIALS AND METHODS

- '

The materials and methods used in this thesis are described in detail in the original publications I, II, and III, as indicated in Table 1.

۰.

. -

Table 1 Methods used in publications I, II, and III. Methods that were conducted	only
by the coauthors are indicated with an asterisk (*).	

Method	Publication
Total RNA extraction and first strand cDNA synthesis	I, II, III
Semiquantitative RT-PCR	I, II
Real-time quantitative (q)PCR	I, III
Chemical treatments of seedlings	II
Primer design	I, II, III
Isolation and cloning of enzyme-coding cDNA molecules	III
Protein expression, purification, western blot, and enzymatic assays	III
HPLC analyses	III
Sequence analysis and alignment	III
Phylogenetic analysis	III
UPLC-MS/MS analyses *	III
TLC analysis	II
Pearson correlation analysis	I, III
Mapping of RNA-seq reads to Pinus EST collection *	I, II, III
Differential-expression analysis *	I, II
Gene ontology enrichment analysis *	I, II
Trinity <i>de novo</i> assembly and mapping of RNA-seq reads *	I, II
Bayesian hierarchical clustering analysis *	II

- .

## 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

-

#### 4.1 Expression of secondary metabolite pathways during heartwood formation

One fundamental change that occurs when SW is converted to HW is the biosynthesis of extractives that accumulate in the HW. The process of extractive biosynthesis during HW formation is dependent on the activity of long-lived RP cells, in addition to the epithelial cells of the resin ducts.

The previously described chemical, cytological, and structural changes were strongly supported by our transcriptomics data and aided in the initial localization of the TZ. The transcriptional data were mapped against a pine expressed sequence tag (EST) collection that consisted of tentative consensus (TC) sequences. TC is a contig formed by assembling sequences from different pine species. Some of the TCs originated from single species and some were combinations of many, which means that different TCs do not represent different genes in Scots pine.

The TZ is described to have a lower moisture content than the SW, and this was utilized to localize the TZ from the increment core samples, together with stilbene fluorescence under UV light. The expression of STS was strongest in the outermost dry zone, and inwards to the HW from that region no RNA could be extracted. Some *STS* expression was seen on the SW side in the wet area. In general, *STS* expression was restricted to an area of one or two growth rings (I).

Extractives in different species form either *in situ* in the TZ (Type I), or the precursors accumulate in aging SW and are then transported to the TZ, where they are oxidized and/or hydrolyzed into extractives (type II) (Magel 2000). The extractives are biosynthesized from both local storage carbohydrates and triglycerides, in addition to transported carbohydrates from the outer SW and phloem (Magel 2000). The expression of sucrose synthase, enzyme involved in glycolysis, gluconeogenesis, and the oxidative pentose phosphate pathway was upregulated in the TZ, which supports the hypothesis that carbohydrates and triglycerides are utilized for building the backbones of HW extractives. In pine, extractives consist mostly of stilbenes (PS and PSME), resin acids, and free fatty acids. The increasing concentration of stilbenes in the TZ was supported by strong activation of the expression of both the stilbene pathway- and the shikimate

pathway-encoding genes in the TZ, compared with the SW. This confirms that, with respect to stilbene biosynthesis, HW formation is type I in Scots pine and is restricted to a relatively narrow area of one or two growth rings, as described in other studies (Bergström 2003).

An unexpected finding was the lack of induction of resin acid biosynthesis genes in the TZ, since resin acid concentrations increase in the TZ, as do other extractives, and are higher in the HW than in the SW (Bergström 2003; Venäläinen et al. 2003; Zheng et al. 2014). During our sampling time in June, the expression of resin acid biosynthesis genes was low in both the SW and TZ (I). In fact, the year-round experiment showed that the expression of these genes peaked much earlier, already in April, and were then downregulated. But even then, the genes expressed were five times higher in the SW than in the TZ. This suggests that resin acids are mostly produced in the SW and then loaded into the TZ from the outside SW. With respect to resin acid accumulation, Scots pine HW formation more resembles type II (I). However, the expression of resin acid biosynthesis genes was also induced slightly in the spring in the TZ, so it cannot be ruled out that some of the resin acids may have been synthesized in the TZ.

From the year-round expression profiles, we concluded that resin acid biosynthesis occurs during spring and stilbene biosynthesis in the summer and autumn. In the winter months, even when the temperature was well below zero, the transcripts of the stilbene pathway strongly accumulated. This is in some sense paradoxical, but the same phenomenon has been described in the needles of Douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) and in the xylem of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). In Douglas-fir, thousands of genes were expressed at the highest levels during winter dormancy (Cronn et al. 2017), while in Norway spruce the lignin pathway genes peaked in the winter when the temperature was lowest during the measuring time (Soile Jokipii-Lukkari, personal communication, July 17, 2017).

Pines are capable of synthesizing the unusual flavonoids pinocembrin and pinobanksin, in addition to the archetypical flavonoids, but flavonoids are not often described as major constituents of HW extractives in pine species. However, at least pinocembrin was present at low concentrations in the HW and knots of Scots pine (Willför et al. 2003). In the transcriptomics data, CHS was expressed at 2-fold higher levels in the TZ than in the SW and chalcone isomerase (CHI) was preferentially expressed in the TZ at

-

5-6-fold higher expression levels than in the SW. At the final stages of HW formation, lignification of the RP cells occurred in the TZ, and the transcription of the lignin biosynthesis pathway was concurrently activated (I).

#### 4.2 Programmed cell death and timing of heartwood formation

. '

Cytological studies have shown clearly that in the last phases of HW formation, the nuclei disappear and the parenchyma cells die. Bifunctional nuclease (BFN), an enzyme involved in degradation of DNA and RNA during the late stages of senescence and various PCD processes, was expressed exclusively in the TZ (I). PCD is divided into environmentally induced PCD (ePCD), which is triggered by external abiotic and biotic signals, and developmentally induced PCD (dPCD), which is induced by internal factors (Pérez-Amador et al. 2000; Farage-Barhom et al. 2008). *BFN* expression has only been detected in dPCD processes and is considered a marker for dPCD (Olvera-Carrillo et al. 2015). The activation of BFN expression strongly indicates that HW formation truly is a dPCD process that is regulated by internal factors, instead of being a stress response to drying, which has been suggested as an initiation factor for HW formation (Shigo & Hillis 1973). BFN expression was not induced in response to UV-C treatment, which is a trigger for ePCD (II). Following the BFN expression throughout the year showed that the occurrence of PCD is highest in the autumn and that BFN expression ceases after October, marking the end of HW formation (I).

# 4.3 Expression of secondary metabolite pathways in response to UV-C stress induction

Stilbene biosynthesis is strongly induced in pines and other species as a response to UV-C-induced stress. Whole-transcriptome-level responses have been studied in grapevine but not in any coniferous species. RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) data confirmed the activation of *STS*-encoding genes six hours after the onset of the UV-C treatment. Other enzymes involved specifically in the stilbene pathway of pine have not yet been characterized, but several *PAL*- and *4CL*-encoding TCs were also upregulated. The *O*-methyltransferase PMT1 (Chiron et al. 2000a), with PS-methylating activity, was not differentially expressed, but some other *O*-methyltransferases showed an inducible expression pattern (II).

Resin acid biosynthesis occurs through the chloroplastic 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4phosphate (MEP) pathway, leading to mono- and diterpenes, and the cytosolic mevalonic acid (MVA) pathway, leading to sesquiterpenes and triterpenes (Figure 4). The core MEP pathway genes together with specific mono- (MTS)- and diterpene synthase (DTS)- encoding genes were downregulated by UV-C in the 24-hour timeframe, as were many other genes involved in processes in chloroplasts (II). This may have occurred due to the damage to and malfunction of chloroplasts caused by a UV-C-induced ROS burst. On the other hand, rapid accumulation of the resin acids is not needed, since the first layer of defense is obtained by preformed compounds stored in the needles. One interesting finding was, however, that the gene encoding the sesquiterpene  $\alpha$ -farnesene synthase, an enzyme functioning downstream of the cytoplasmic MVA pathway, was highly upregulated in response to UV-C treatment, together with genes encoding core MVA pathway enzymes. The importance of  $\alpha$ -farnesene is not well defined, but it may have a signaling function in plant-insect interactions, which again may explain its rapid expression.

۰.

. -

۰.

- '



**Figure 4.** Biosynthesis of terpenoids through plastidic MEP (2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4phosphate) and cytosolic MVA (mevalonic acid) pathways. DXS, 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5phosphate synthase; DXR, 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate reductoisomerase; CMS, 4diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methyl-D-erythritol synthase; CMK, 4-diphosphocytidyl-2-Cmethyl-D-erythritol kinase; MDS, 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 2,4-cyclodiphosphate synthase; HDS, (E)-1-hydroxy-2-methyl-but-2-enyl-4-diphosphate synthase; HDR, 1-hydroxy-2-methyl-2-(E)-butenyl 4-diphosphate reductase; IPP, isopentenyl pyrophosphate; DMAPP, dimethylallyl pyrophosphate; IDI, IPP/DMAPP isomerase; GGPPS, geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate synthase; GPPS, geranyl pyrophosphate synthase; DTS, diterpene synthase; MTS, monoterpene synthase; HMGR, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; MVK, MVA kinase; PMK, phosphomevalonate kinase; PMD, MVA diphosphate decarboxylase; FPPS, farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase; STP, sesquiterpene synthase; SQS, squalene synthase; TTS, triterpene synthase. The figure is redrawn and simplified from Moses et al. (2013).

The flavonoid pathway genes were upregulated only mildly as a response to UV-C treatment. Only the branch leading to proanthocyanidins showed a slightly higher induction. In grapevine the induction of the stilbene pathway concurrently downregulates *CHS* and the flavonoid pathway genes (Vannozzi et al. 2012). At the biochemical level, in pine PS is an efficient inhibitor of CHS activity (Kodan et al.

2002). The biosynthesis of stilbenes is seemingly preferred at the expense of the flavonoid pathway. Suppression of the flavonoid pathway may be an important mechanism for sustaining sufficient substrate for stilbene biosynthesis, since the pathways utilize the same precursors. The genes involved in monolignol biosynthesis were also slightly upregulated, and it is known that lignin is produced as a response to ROS-generating conditions (Barros et al. 2015).

## 4.4 Transcriptional regulation of the stilbene pathway

There is wide genetic variation in the concentration of stilbenes in the HW of pine between individuals. One important aspect that may induce this variation is differences in regulation of the pathway. The regulators are still unknown and of the utmost importance to find. Based on *in silico* promoter analysis, the *STS* promoter has putative regulatory motives that can bind TFs from multiple families, such as the NAC, MYB, WRKY, basic leucine zipper (bZIP), basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH), apetala2/ethylene response factor (AP2/ERF), homeodomain, and GRAS families (II). The abundance of different sites binding the various families of TFs may reflect the fact that multiple abiotic and biotic stressors in addition to developmental signals activate the stilbene pathway.

It is not known if the same regulators are responsible for stilbene pathway activation in both environmental and developmental situations. Comparison of the TFs commonly expressed both in response to UV-C stress and in the TZ did not clearly reveal candidates involved in stilbene pathway regulation. Two possible candidates for stilbene pathway regulation in the TZ (coexpressed with *STS* in the TZ) (I) were not induced in response to UV-C treatment and TFs coexpressed with *STS* in UV-C-treated needles were not expressed in the TZ (II). It seems likely that a different set of regulators is induced in response to stress and HW development, and from both conditions several good candidates were chosen for future investigation.

Additional complications in the identification of possible regulator(s) utilizing coexpression analysis may arise from the result that stilbene pathway enzymes are, as we described in publication (II), primary response genes. This suggests that at least part of the regulation occurs through preexisting TFs (II). Pretreatment of plants with the inhibitors of translation cycloheximide (CHX) and anicomycin did not prevent activation of *STS* gene expression by UV-C (II). In fact, inhibiting translation without

. '

UV-C treatment was sufficient to initiate transcription. This is a common phenomenon in regulation of plant hormone-responsive genes. Activating TFs are counteracted by labile repressors, and when these repressors cannot be replaced under CHX treatment, this leads to activation of transcription. The transcription of stilbene pathway genes may thus be regulated by both activating and repressive TFs.

#### 4.5 Chemical genetics and hormonal regulation of the stilbene pathway

. '

Determining the signaling pathways and mechanisms of gene regulation in Scots pine is hampered by the fact that transgenic approaches and mutant analysis are not currently feasible. However, chemical biology is increasingly valued as an approach to study the complex pathways in plants and to avoid the common problems of redundancy (Dejonghe & Russinova 2017). Chemical genetics could be used more in conifers to dissect the mechanisms of complex regulation of secondary metabolism pathways. The expression of *STS* is activated fast after UV-C induction and is not dependent on translation of transcriptional regulators (II). Protein phosphorylation is an important means of activating preexisting TFs in mammals. We tested how perturbation of the phosphorylation status of cells affects the activation of the stilbene pathway and found that inhibition of protein phosphatases chemically induces the transcription of *STS*, similar to what is seen in grapevine (II).

Hormonal regulation of the stilbene pathway, especially the involvement of ethylene during HW formation, has been discussed. Ethylene treatment of SW caused the induction of HW extractive production, and ethylene is formed in the TZ during dormancy (Nilsson et al. 2002; Shain & Hillis 1973). We observed the expression of the ethylene biosynthesis gene 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate oxidase upregulated more highly in the TZ than in the SW (I), but following the expression of the transcript did not support the involvement of ethylene in HW formation. When we treated pine seedlings with the ethylene precursor 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC), expression of *STS* was induced erratically (II). However, combination of ACC with jasmonic acid caused consistently strong activation of *STS*.

#### 4.6 Characterization of stilbene-specific *O*-methyltransferase

The expression of the *STS*-encoding gene was consistently activated as a response to UV-C and wounding stresses and in the TZ during HW formation. To our surprise, the previously published gene *PMT1* (Chiron et al. 2000a), encoding the enzyme suggested

to catalyze the last step of the stilbene biosynthesis pathway, conversion of PS into PSME, showed no similar expression profiles. The gene was poorly expressed in the TZ, was not induced in response to wounding of xylem or UV-C treatment of the needles, and was constantly expressed primarily in the xylem (I, II, III).

Our RNA-seq data did not support the involvement of PMT1 in the methylation of PS, although the enzyme displayed such enzymatic activity *in vitro*. Correlation analysis of genes coexpressed with *STS* through all of our data uncovered a new *O*-methyltransferase-encoding gene, *PMT2*. This gene was strongly upregulated with STS under all of the experimental conditions examined. PMT2 was produced in *E. coli* as a histidine (His)-tagged recombinant protein and showed high specificity for methylating PS and structurally similar compounds (resveratrol and piceatannol) in *in vitro* enzymatic assays (III). PMT1, in contrast, showed broader substrate specificity, methylating many compounds such as flavonoids, stilbenes, and hydroxycinnamic acids and many of these more efficiently than PS. In addition, PMT2 had higher catalytic efficiency towards PS than did PMT1. PMT2 is encoded by three or four genes in the genome, based on intron sequences, and some of the gene copies were expressed preferentially as a response to UV-C treatment and some in the TZ (III).

#### 4.7 Candidates for cinnamate-activating-CoA ligase

One important enzyme is still missing from the stilbene pathway, the enzyme that converts cinnamic acid to cinnamoyl-CoA. In some angiosperm species, this activity is attributed to cinnamate ligase (CNL) enzymes and in raspberry a 4CL enzyme variant is able to utilize cinnamic acid efficiently as a substrate. In general, cinnamic acid is a poor substrate for 4CL enzymes. The loblolly pine enzyme Pt4CL3 has been suggested to activate cinnamate *in vivo*, even when it did not use the substrate *in vitro*, based on its ability to form cinnamoyl-CoA-derived compounds when expressed heterologously in poplar (Chen et al. 2014). The TC in our collection corresponding to Pt4CL3 was not induced in response to UV-C, wounding, or CHX treatments, nor was it differentially expressed in the TZ, compared with the SW. Coexpression analysis with *STS* did not clearly reveal a candidate for this activity. Various 4CL enzymes were coexpressed in response to different treatments. However, one 4CL enzymes were coexpressed in the TZ, was induced in the UV-C and CHX treatments and was also present in the TZ, but was missing from the wounding libraries. When the expression of this gene was

. '

followed throughout the year, it showed high correlation with the expression profile of STS and PMT2 (I, II). This enzyme may be a good candidate for cinnamate-activating-CoA ligase functioning in the stilbene pathway of pine. Nevertheless, additional candidates, similar to the CNL enzymes, should be searched for in the transcriptomic data.

-

#### 4.8 Is there a division of labor between pine stilbene synthase pathway genes?

STS in Scots pine is encoded by at least five genes, but it is not known whether these genes function redundantly, have tissue specificity, or respond to different stimuli. The coding areas of the genes are very similar, but the promoters are different. In our RNA-seq data, the same set of TCs was induced in the TZ from adult trees and UV-C-treated needles. This suggests that the same genes are responsible for stilbene biosynthesis under different conditions. This was also the case in PMT2. However, the resolution of the mapping likely could not distinguish the extremely similar paralogs. In fact, more careful observation of the differences in the 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) and the expression of the different variants of the *PMT2* gene revealed some indication that there were preferences among the variants in their responses to different conditions (III). The resolution of this analysis was rather poor and should be verified by more rigorous experiments. Cloning of the complete *STS* and *PMT2* genes from all family members together with the 5' and 3' UTRs may furnish enough resolution to determine the divergence for different induction conditions.

Different phenylpropanoid pathway branches, however, do not apparently share common isoforms of the enzymes. In some angiosperm species, different 4CL isoforms functioned in branches leading to lignin and nonlignin metabolites, but also showed overlapping functions (Hu et al. 1998; Li et al. 2015). The PAL-encoding genes in pine showed differences in expression after fungal induction and in tissue specificities (Butland et al. 1998). The lignin, flavonoid, and stilbene pathway PAL and 4CL genes are likely not shared, which is also reflected in the very different expression profiles of different TCs. For instance, the strongest UV-C-responsive PAL TCs were not expressed in the TZ at all. The PAL- encoding TCs that were induced most strongly in the TZ showed a 2-fold induction in the UV-C samples and were very similar to the putative lignin pathway genes. The same applies to the 4CL-encoding TCs. Two TCs

were shared between the UV-C samples and the TZ, but most appeared either in the samples or in the TZ (I, II).

## 5 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

-

This thesis focused on the crucial secondary metabolism pathway of stilbenes in Scots pine. We studied whole-transcriptome-level responses to known stresses and the developmental cues inducing the pathway and shed new light on the poorly understood processes of HW formation. The most important individual finding was the identification of the true *O*-methyltransferase enzyme, PMT2, responsible for the last step of the stilbene pathway: methylation of PS to PSME. We were also able to show that a marker specific for developmentally induced PCD, BFN, was exclusively expressed in the TZ, which indicates that HW formation is truly induced by internal factors. With this marker, we were also able to pinpoint the timing of HW formation in Scots pine from spring until the end of late autumn. However, results from the year-round expression profiles are approximate because of the small number of replicates and high variation between the individuals.

Transcriptomic analysis revealed several possible candidates for stilbene pathway regulation in pine. The next step is the functional analysis of these candidates and dissection of the crucial binding areas for the regulators. In addition, we need to resolve whether all the *STS*-encoding genes in the pine genome are equally important for the synthesis of PS in the TZ, or whether there is a division of labor between the paralogs. Knowing the genes responsible for the biosynthesis and their regulatory areas would enable any polymorphism in these to be studied in high- and low- stilbene-producing individuals to correlate their differences in PS-producing capacity. Regulation of *STS* genes is interesting as such, because pine *STS* genes retain their stress inducibility when transformed into other plant species that do not normally synthesize stilbenes (Preisig-Müller et al. 1999; own unpublished data). This indicates that *STS* regulation occurs via ancient stress-response pathways that are shared between angiosperms and gymnosperms.

We could not demonstrate involvement of plant hormone signaling in the initiation of HW formation. More defined dissection of the intermediate area, combined with RNA-seq and hormonal analysis, may furnish answers to this and other intriguing questions,

such as what the mechanism is that restricts the TZ in the area of one or two growth rings, even though the continuum of cells reaches all the way to the phloem. Combining chemical, anatomical, transcriptomics and proteomics studies from same set of samples from sapwood via transition zone to heartwood would give more comprehensive view on HW formation.

- '

۰.

In addition to molecular markers, a simple chemical screening method may be a way to hasten breeding of HW durability. This possibility arises from studies described previously, in which wounding-induced stilbene production correlated with the amount of stilbenes the plant was able to produce in its HW as an adult tree. However, wounding of the xylem is quite a destructive method. Another possibility may be to test whether UV-C-induced stilbene production in the needles could be utilized instead of estimating the stilbene production capacity.

. -

۰.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

-

This work was carried out at the Department of Agricultural Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry at the University of Helsinki. The project was financially supported by Tekes, the Finnish Forest Cluster, Finnish Cultural Foundation, Niemi Foundation and Doctoral Programme in Plant Sciences.

My deepest gratitude goes to my supervisor Professor Teemu Teeri for all his help, support and time. The most grateful I am for the scientific freedom to pursue my own ideas (not necessarily always so wise). It has taught me independence, perseverance and made me the scientist that I am now.

I could not have failed on the journey towards PhD because five women pushed me forward and always believed in my skills. Thank you professor Paula Elomaa for always having the time to read and give constructive comments on my texts and listen to my complaints, Milla Pietiäinen for all the advice, encouragement, scientific and nonscientific discussions and friendship, Eija Takala for the technical assistance of course but more importantly being my substitute mom, always taking care of my well-being and telling me to come to work earlier, Kristiina Himanen for long coffee breaks with great conversations and Sari Tähtiharju for guiding me in the beginning of my studies and the great advice to stop overthinking and start doing.

Kean-Jin Lim, my officemate and fellow PhD student in the project. Thank you for the support, discussions, positive attitude and willingness to always help me with my computer problems. For sure I could not have finished my thesis without your great contribution.

Anni Harju, Martti Venäläinen and Katri Kärkkäinen, your contribution to our papers is highly appreciated. Thank you also for giving me a view in science outside molecular biology.

I thank the pre-examiners Associate Professor Edouard Pesquet and Docent Tuula Jyske for kind but constructive comments. Your contribution made my thesis better. I would also like to thank Professor Jörg Bohlmann for accepting the invitation for being my opponent. Professor Jaakko Kangasjärvi, thank you for the advice and support in the yearly followup meetings. Thank you especially for the kind reminder that none of the hard work matters if it is not published. Docent Anna Kärkönen, another member of my follow-up group. Thank you for organizing the phenolics meetings, encouragement and all the help.

. '

Karen Sims-Huopaniemi, the coordinator of our doctoral school. Thank you for the help in many occasions and your efforts to unite plant scientists in the Viikki campus.

Anu Rokkanen, Marja Huovila, Marjo Kilpinen, Terttu Parkkari, Arto Nieminen, Sanna Peltola and Ulla-Maija Salmi, thank you for the excellent technical assistance and many discussions in the lab and at the coffee breaks. Kaj-Roger Hurme, thank you for the assistance in isotope work and lively discussions in the quiet isotope lab. Riikka Pahkala is acknowledged for helping in all the paperwork and delighting us all with the masterpieces of baking.

I would also like to acknowledge trainees that have helped me with the work: Prosanta Singha Kumar, Kai Wang, Kahren van Eer and Riikka Mäkilä.

I have been privileged to work with so many great people in the Department of Agricultural Sciences: Kati Mouhu, Mirko Pavicic, Juha Kontturi, Yafei Zhao, Teng Zhang, Lingping Zhu, Hany Bashandy, Teresa Laitinen, Enni Väisänen, Feng Wang, Soile Jokipii-Lukkari, Tommaso Raffaello, Marcelina Bilicka and many others. Thank you for creating such a nice working atmosphere.

How boring would my life be without my dear friends. Thank you Hellu, Saara, Mari, Sari and Sini for giving me something else to think than science.

Viimeiset kiitokset kuuluu sille kaikista tärkeimmälle, omalle perheelle. Kiitos äiti ja iskä kodista, tuesta, ymmärryksestä, välittämisestä ja kaikesta. Kiitos, Marko, Sonja ja Janika olette tärkeitä (+Eerika, Niilo, Eetu ja Eeli). Ja vielä yks, jonka nimeä ei saa mainita, kiitos kaikesta, sä tiedät.

#### REFERENCES

- '

Barros J, Serk H, Granlund I, and Pesquet E. 2015. The cell biology of lignification in higher plants. *Ann. Bot.* 115: 1053–1074.

**Beauchamp K. 2011.** Biology of heartwood formation in Sitka spruce and Scots pine. PhD thesis, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK.

**Beauchamp K, Mencuccini M, Perks M, and Gardiner B. 2013.** The regulation of sapwood area, water transport and heartwood formation in Sitka spruce. *Plant Ecol. Divers.* **6**: 45-56.

**Belhadj A, Telef N, Saigne C, Cluzet S, Barrieu F, Hamdi S, and Mérillon J. 2008.** Effect of methyl jasmonate in combination with carbohydrates on gene expression of PR proteins, stilbene and anthocyanin accumulation in grapevine cell cultures. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* **46**: 493-499.

Belt T, Hänninen T and Rautkari, L. 2017a. Antioxidant activity of Scots pine heartwood and knot extractives and implications for resistance to brown rot. *Holzforschung*, 71: 527-534.

Belt T, Keplinger T, Hänninen T and Rautkari L.2017b. Cellular level distributions of Scots pine heartwood and knot heartwood extractives revealed by Raman spectroscopy imaging. *Ind. Crop Prod.* 108: 327-335

**Bergström B. 2003.** Chemical and structural changes during heartwood formation in *Pinus sylvestris. Forestry* **76**: 45-53.

Bergström B, Gref R, and Ericsson A. 2004. Effects of pruning on heartwood formation in Scots pine trees. *J. For. Sci.* 50 1:11.

**Bonello P, Heller W, and Sandermann H. 1993.** Ozone effects on root-disease susceptibility and defence responses in mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal seedlings of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). *New Phytol.* **124**: 653-663.

**Brodribb TJ, Pittermann J, and Coomes DA. 2012.** Elegance versus speed: Examining the competition between conifer and angiosperm trees. *Int. J. Plant Sci.* **173**: 673-694.

. -

.

**Butland SL, Chow ML, and Ellis BE. 1998.** A diverse family of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase genes expressed in pine trees and cell cultures. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **37**: 15-24.

. '

**Campbell NA and Reece JB. 2005.** Biology 7<sup>th</sup> Edition. San Francisco: Pearson Benjamin Cummings.

**Chen H, Babst BA, Nyamdari B, Hu H, Sykes R, Davis MF, Harding SA, and Tsai C. 2014.** Ectopic expression of a loblolly pine class II 4-coumarate:CoA ligase alters soluble phenylpropanoid metabolism but not lignin biosynthesis in populus. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **55**: 1669-1678.

Chiron H, Drouet A, Claudot A, Eckerskorn C, Trost M, Heller W, Ernst D, and Sandermann H. 2000a. Molecular cloning and functional expression of a stressinduced multifunctional *O*-methyltransferase with pinosylvin methyltransferase activity from Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). *Plant Mol. Biol.* **44** 6:733-745.

Chiron H, Drouet A, Lieutier F, Payer H, Ernst D, and Sandermann H. 2000b. Gene induction of stilbene biosynthesis in Scots pine in response to ozone treatment, wounding, and fungal infection. *Plant Physiol.* **124**: 865-872.

Chong J, Poutaraud A, and Hugueney P. 2009. Metabolism and roles of stilbenes in plants. *Plant Sci.* 177: 143-155.

**Chu HY, Wegel E, and Osbourn A. 2011.** From hormones to secondary metabolism: the emergence of metabolic gene clusters in plants. *Plant J.* **66**: 66-79.

**Cronn R, Dolan PC, Jogdeo S, Wegrzyn JL, Neale DB, St. Clair JB, and Denver DR. 2017.** Transcription through the eye of a needle: Daily and annual cycles of gene expression variation in Douglas fir needles. bioRxiv 117374; https://doi.org/10.1101/117374

**Dejonghe W, and Russinova E. 2017.** Plant chemical genetics: From phenotype-based screens to synthetic biology. *Plant Physiol.* **174**: 5-20.

**Donoghue MJ, and Doyle JA. 2000.** Seed plant phylogeny: Demise of the anthophyte hypothesis? *Curr. Biol.* **10**: 106-109.

**Dvornyk V, Sirviö A, Mikkonen M, and Savolainen O. 2002.** Low nucleotide diversity at the *pal1* Locus in the widely distributed *Pinus sylvestris*. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* **19**:179-188.

**Ebel J. 1986.** Phytoalexin synthesis: The biochemical analysis of the induction process. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **24**: 235-264.

**Eberhardt TL, Han JS, Micales JA, and Young RA.1994.** Decay resistance in conifer seed cones: Role of resin acids as inhibitors of decomposition by white-rot fungi. *Holzforschung* **48**:278-284.

**Farage-Barhom S, Burd S, Sonego L, Perl-Treves R, and Lers A. 2008.** Expression analysis of the BFN1 nuclease gene promoter during senescence, abscission, and programmed cell death-related processes. *J. Exp. Bot.* **59:** 3247-3258.

Field B, and Osbourn AE. 2008. Metabolic diversification—Independent assembly of operon-like gene clusters in different plants. *Science* **320**: 543-547.

Firn RD, and Jones CG. 2003. Natural products - a simple model to explain chemical diversity. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 20: 382-391.

Fliegmann J, Schröder G, Schanz S, Britsch L, and Schröder J. 1992. Molecular analysis of chalcone and dihydropinosylvin synthase from Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), and differential regulation of these and related enzyme activities in stressed plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **18**: 489-503.

Fries A, Ericsson T, and Gref R. 2000. High heritability of wood extractives in *Pinus* sylvestris progeny tests. *Can. J. For. Res.* **30**: 1707-1713.

Gaid MM, Sircar D, Müller A, Beuerle T, Liu B, Ernst L, Hänsch R, and Beerhues L. 2012. Cinnamate:CoA ligase initiates the biosynthesis of a benzoate-derived xanthone phytoalexin in *Hypericum calycinum* cell cultures. *Plant Physiol.* 160: 1267-1280.

Gartner BL, Baker DC, and Spicer R. 2000. Distribution and vitality of xylem rays in relation to tree leaf area in Douglas fir. *IAWA J.* 21: 389-401.

Gehlert R, Schöppner A, and Kindl H. 1990. Stilbene synthase from seedlings of *Pinus sylvestris*: Purification and induction in response to fungal infection. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact* 3: 444-449.

, -,

Graham LE. 1993. Origin of land plants. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. pp. 5

- '

Grimmig B, Schubert R, Fischer R, Hain R, Schreier PH, Betz C, Langebartels C, Ernst D, and Sandermann H. 1997. Ozone- and ethylene-induced regulation of a grapevine resveratrol synthase promoter in transgenic tobacco. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* 19: 467-474.

- '

.

Harju AM, and Venäläinen M. 2006. Measuring the decay resistance of Scots pine heartwood indirectly by the Folin-Ciocalteu assay. *Can. J. For. Res.* 36: 1797-1804.

Harju AM, Venäläinen M, Laakso T, and Saranpää P. 2009. Wounding response in xylem of Scots pine seedlings shows wide genetic variation and connection with the constitutive defence of heartwood. *Tree Physiol.* **29**: 19-25.

Hart JH. 1981. Role of phytostilbenes in decay and disease resistance. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 19: 437-458.

Hartmann T. 2007. From waste products to ecochemicals: Fifty years research of plant secondary metabolism. *Phytochemistry* **68**: 2831-2846.

Hillis WE, and Inoue T. 1968. The formation of polyphenols in trees—IV. *Phytochemistry* 7 1:13-22.

Höll J, Vannozzi A, Czemmel S, D'Onofrio C, Walker AR, Rausch T, Lucchin M, Boss PK, Dry IB, and Bogs J. 2013. The R2R3-MYB Transcription Factors MYB14 and MYB15 Regulate Stilbene Biosynthesis in *Vitis vinifera*. *Plant Cell* 25: 4135-4149.

Hovelstad H, Leirset I, Oyaas K, and Fiksdahl A. 2006. Screening analyses of pinosylvin stilbenes, resin acids and lignans in Norwegian Conifers. *Molecules* 11: 103-114.

Hu W, Kawaoka A, Tsai C, Lung J, Osakabe K, Ebinuma H, and Chiang VL. 1998. Compartmentalized expression of two structurally and functionally distinct 4coumarate:CoA ligase genes in aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95: 5407-5412.

Jones CG, Moniodis J, Zulak KG, Scaffidi A, Plummer JA, Ghisalberti EL, Barbour EL, and Bohlmann J. 2011. Sandalwood fragrance biosynthesis involves sesquiterpene synthases of both the terpene synthase (TPS)-a and TPS-b subfamilies, including santalene synthases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286: 17445-17454.

. -

Jones CG, Firn RD, and Malcolm SB. 1991. On the evolution of plant secondary chemical diversity [and discussion]. *Philos. Trans: Biol. Sci.* 333: 273-280.

Jorgensen E. 1961. The formation of pinosylvin and its monomethyl ether in the sapwood of *Pinus resinosa* Ait. *Can. J. Bot.* **39**: 1765-1772.

Kampe A, and Magel E. 2013. New insights into heartwood and heartwood formation. Pages 71-95 In: Fromm J, ed. *Cellular Aspects of Wood Formation*. Berlin, Heidelberg:Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 71-95.

Kemp MS, and Burden RS. 1986. Phytoalexins and stress metabolites in the sapwood of trees. *Phytochemistry* **25** 6:1261-1269.

Klempien A, Kaminaga Y, Qualley A, Nagegowda DA, Widhalm JR, Orlova I, Shasany AK, Taguchi G, Kish CM, Cooper BR, D'Auria JC, Rhodes D, Pichersky E, and Dudareva N. 2012. Contribution of CoA ligases to benzenoid biosynthesis in petunia flowers. *Plant Cell* 24: 2015-2030.

Kliebenstein DJ, and Osbourn A. 2012. Making new molecules – evolution of pathways for novel metabolites in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 15: 415-423.

Kodan A, Kuroda H, and Sakai F. 2002. A stilbene synthase from Japanese red pine (*Pinus densiflora*): Implications for phytoalexin accumulation and down-regulation of flavonoid biosynthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **99**: 3335-3339.

Koes RE, Quattrocchio F, and Mol JNM. 1994. The flavonoid biosynthetic pathway in plants: Function and evolution. *Bioessays* 16: 123-132.

Kovalchuk A, Zhu L, Keriö S, and Asiegbu FO. 2017. Differential responses of Scots pine stilbene synthase and chalcone synthase genes to *Heterobasidion annosum* infection. *For. Pathol.*: e12348-n/a.

Kumar A, and Ellis BE. 2003. 4-Coumarate:CoA ligase gene family in *Rubus idaeus*: cDNA structures, evolution, and expression. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 51: 327-340.

Lam KC, Ibrahim RK, Behdad B, and Dayanandan S. 2007. Structure, function, and evolution of plant *O*-methyltransferases. *Genome* **50**: 1001-1013.

Lange BM, Trost M, Heller W, Langebartels C, and Sandermann H. 1994. Elicitorinduced formation of free and cell-wall-bound stilbenes in cell-suspension cultures of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). *Planta* 194: 143-148.

- '

Leinonen A, Harju AM, Venäläinen M, Saranpää P, and Laakso T. 2008. FT-NIR spectroscopy in predicting the decay resistance related characteristics of solid Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) heartwood. *Holzforschung* **62**:284.

Li Y, Kim JI, Pysh L, and Chapple C. 2015. Four isoforms of Arabidopsis 4coumarate:CoA ligase have overlapping yet distinct roles in phenylpropanoid metabolism. *Plant Physiol.* **169**: 2409-2421.

Lynch M, and Conery JS. 2000. The evolutionary fate and consequences of duplicate genes. *Science* 290: 1151.

**Magel EA . 2000.** Biochemistry and physiology of heartwood formation. In R Savidge, JR Barnett, R Napier, eds, Cell and Molecular Biology of Wood Formation, Vol xvii, 530, 4 s. BIOS Scientific Publishers, Oxford, UK, pp 363–376.

Magel EA, Hillinger C, Wagner T, and Höll W. 2001. Oxidative pentose phosphate pathway and pyridine nucleotides in relation to heartwood formation in *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. *Phytochemistry* 57 7:1061-1068.

Miller CN. 1977. Mesozoic conifers. Bot. Rev. 43: 217-280.

- '

.

Moghe GD, and Last RL. 2015. Something old, something new: Conserved enzymes and the evolution of novelty in plant specialized metabolism. *Plant Physiol.* 169: 1512-1523.

**Moses T, Pollier J, Thevelein JM, and Goossens A. 2013.** Bioengineering of plant (tri)terpenoids: from metabolic engineering of plants to synthetic biology in vivo and in vitro. *New Phytol.* **200**: 27–43.

Nakaba S, Kubo T, and Funada R. 2008. Differences in patterns of cell death between ray parenchyma cells and ray tracheids in the conifers *Pinus densiflora* and *Pinus rigida*. *Trees* 22: 623.

Nakaba S, Sano Y, Kubo T, and Funada R. 2006. The positional distribution of cell death of ray parenchyma in a conifer, *Abies sachalinensis*. *Plant Cell Rep.* 25: 1143-1148.

Nilsson M, Wikman S, and Eklund L. 2002. Induction of discolored wood in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). *Tree Physiol.* 22: 331-338.

**Ober D. 2010.** Gene duplications and the time thereafter – examples from plant secondary metabolism. *Plant Biol.* **12**: 570-577.

, -, Olvera-Carrillo Y, Van Bel M, Van Hautegem T, Fendrych M, Huysmans M, Simaskova M, van Durme M, Buscaill P, Rivas S, Coll NS, Coppens F, Maere S, and Nowack MK. 2015. A conserved core of programmed cell death indicator genes discriminates developmentally and environmentally induced programmed cell death in plants. *Plant Physiol.* 169: 2684-2699.

Partanen J, Harju AM, Venäläinen M, and Kärkkäinen K. 2011. Highly heritable heartwood properties of Scots pine: possibilities for selective seed harvest in seed orchards. *Can. J. For. Res.* 41:1993-2000.

Pérez-Amador MA, Abler ML, De Rocher EJ, Thompson DM, van Hoof A, LeBrasseur ND, Lers A, and Green PJ. 2000. Identification of BFN1, a bifunctional nuclease induced during leaf and stem senescence in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* **122**: 169-180

Pesquet E, Zhang B, Gorzsás A, Puhakainen T, Serk H, Escamez S, Barbier O, Gerber L, Courtois-Moreau C, Alatalo E, Paulin L, Kangasjärvi J, Sundberg B, Goffner D, and Tuominen H .2013. Non-cell-autonomous postmortem lignification of tracheary elements in *Zinnia elegans*. *Plant Cell* **25**: 1314-1328.

Phillips MA, and Croteau RB. 1999. Resin-based defenses in conifers. *Trends Plant Sci.* 4: 184-190.

**Pietarinen SP, Willför SM, Ahotupa MO, Hemming JE, and Holmbom BR. 2006.** Knotwood and bark extracts: strong antioxidants from waste materials. *J. Wood Sci.* **52**: 436.

**Preisig-Müller R, Schwekendiek A, Brehm I, Reif H, and Kindl H. 1999.** Characterization of a pine multigene family containing elicitor- responsive stilbene synthase genes. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **39**: 221-229.

**Raiber S, Schröder G, and Schröder J. 1995.** Molecular and enzymatic characterization of two stilbene synthases from eastern white pine (*Pinus strobus*) A single Arg/His difference determines the activity and the pH dependence of the enzymes. *FEBS Lett.* **361**: 299-302.

Rosemann D, Heller W, and Sandermann H. 1991. Biochemical plant responses to ozone: II. Induction of stilbene biosynthesis in Scots Pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) seedlings. *Plant Physiol.* 97: 1280-1286.

. -

.

- '

Schoeppner A, and Kindl H. 1979. Stilbene synthase (pinosylvin synthase) and its induction by ultraviolet light. *FEBS Lett.* 108: 349-352.

- '

Schubert R, Fischer R, Hain R, Schreier PH, Bahnweg G, Ernst D, and Sandermann Jr H. 1997. An ozone-responsive region of the grapevine resveratrol synthase promoter differs from the basal pathogen-responsive sequence. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 34: 417-426.

Schultz TP, Hubbard TF, Jin L, Fisher TH, and Nicholas DD. 1990. Role of stilbenes in the natural durability of wood: Fungicidal structure-activity relationships. *Phytochemistry* **29**:1501-1507.

Schultz TP, and Nicholas DD. 2000. Naturally durable heartwood: evidence for a proposed dual defensive function of the extractives. *Phytochemistry* 54: 47-52.

Shain L, and Hillis WE. 1973. Ethylene production in xylem of *Pinus radiata* in relation to heartwood formation. *Can. J. Bot.* 51: 1331-1335.

Shigo AL, and Hillis WE. 1973. Heartwood, discolored wood, and microorganisms in living trees. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 11: 197-222.

**Speed MP, Fenton A, Jones MG, Ruxton GD, and Brockhurst MA. 2015.** Coevolution can explain defensive secondary metabolite diversity in plants. *New Phytol.* **208**: 1251-1263.

Spicer R. 2005. Senescence in secondary xylem: Heartwood fromation as an active developmental program. Pages 457-475 In: Holbrook NM, and Zwieniecki MA, eds. *Vascular Transport in Plants*. London, UK: Elsevier Academic Press, 457-475.

**Spicer R, and Holbrook NM. 2007.** Parenchyma cell respiration and survival in secondary xylem: does metabolic activity decline with cell age? *Plant Cell Environ.* **30**: 934-943.

**Spicer R. 2014.** Symplasmic networks in secondary vascular tissues: parenchyma distribution and activity supporting long-distance transport. *J. Exp. Bot.* **65**: 1829-1848.

Stafford HA. 1991. Flavonoid evolution: An enzymic approach. *Plant Physiol.* 96: 680-685.

Steele CL, Crock J, Bohlmann J, and Croteau R. 1998. Sesquiterpene synthases from Grand Fir (*Abies grandis*): Comparison of constitutive and wound-induced activities, and cDNA isolation, characterization, and bacterial expression of  $\delta$ -selinene synthase and  $\gamma$ -humulene synthase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **273**: 2078-2089.

Suzuki S, and Umezawa T. 2007. Biosynthesis of lignans and norlignans. *J. Wood Sci.* 53: 273.

Tassoni A, Fornalè S, Franceschetti M, Musiani F, Michael AJ, Perry B, and Bagni N. 2005. Jasmonates and Na-orthovanadate promote resveratrol production in *Vitis vinifera* cv. Barbera cell cultures. *New Phytol.* 166: 895-905.

**Taylor AM, Gartner BL, and Morrell JJ. 2002.** Heartwood formation and natural durability—A review. *Wood Fiber Sci.* **34**: 587-611.

**Tropf S, Lanz T, Rensing SA, Schröder J, and Schröder G. 1994.** Evidence that stilbene synthases have developed from chalcone synthases several times in the course of evolution. *J. Mol. Evol.* **38**: 610-618.

Valentine JW.1978. The Evolution of multicellular plants and animals. *Sci. Am.* 239: 140-158.

Vannozzi A, Dry IB, Fasoli M, Zenoni S, and Lucchin M. 2012. Genome-wide analysis of the grapevine stilbene synthase multigenic family: genomic organization and expression profiles upon biotic and abiotic stresses. *BMC Plant Biol.* **12:** 130.

Venäläinen M. 2002. Decay resistance of heartwood timber as a quality characteristic in Scots pine breeding. *Finn. For. Res. Inst., Res. pap. 880. Academic dissertation.* 

Venäläinen M, Harju AM, Kainulainen P, Viitanen H, and Nikulainen H. 2003. Variation in the decay resistance and its relationship with other wood characteristics in old Scots pines. *Ann. For. Sci.* **60:** 409-417.

Venäläinen M, Harju AM, Saranpää P, Kainulainen P, Tiitta M, and Velling P. 2004. The concentration of phenolics in brown-rot decay resistant and susceptible Scots pine heartwood. *Wood Sci. Technol.* **38**: 109-118.

Vickers CE, Bongers M, Liu Q, Delatte T, and Bouwmeester H. 2014. Metabolic engineering of volatile isoprenoids in plants and microbes. *Plant Cell Environ*. 37: 1753-1775.

. -

.

- '

Vogt T. 2010. Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. Mol. Plant 3: 2-20.

- '

.

**Voo KS, Whetten RW, O'Malley DM, and Sederoff RR. 1995.** 4-coumarate:coenzyme A ligase from loblolly pine xylem (isolation, characterization, and complementary DNA cloning). *Plant Physiol.* **108**: 85-97.

Wagner A, Donaldson L, Kim H, Phillips L, Flint H, Steward D, Torr K, Koch G, Schmitt U, and Ralph J. 2009. Suppression of 4-coumarate-CoA ligase in the coniferous gymnosperm *Pinus radiata*. *Plant Physiol.* **149**: 370-383.

Weng J. 2014. The evolutionary paths towards complexity: a metabolic perspective. *New Phytol.* 201: 1141-1149.

Weng J, and Chapple C. 2010. The origin and evolution of lignin biosynthesis. *New Phytol.* 187: 273-285.

Whetten RW, and Sederoff RR. 1992. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from loblolly pine: Purification of the enzyme and isolation of complementary DNA clones. *Plant Physiol.* 98: 380-386.

**Willför S, Hemming J, Reunanen M, and Holmbom B. 2003.** Phenolic and lipophilic extractives in Scots Pine knots and stemwood. *Holzforschung* **57**:359.

Wong DCJ, Schlechter R, Vannozzi A, Höll J, Hmmam I, Bogs J, Tornielli GB, Castellarin SD, and Matus JT. 2016. A systems-oriented analysis of the grapevine R2R3-MYB transcription factor family uncovers new insights into the regulation of stilbene accumulation. *DNA Res.* 23: 451-466.

Ye Z, and Zhong R. 2015. Molecular control of wood formation in trees. J. Exp. Bot. 66: 4119-4131.

**Zhang XH, and Chiang VL. 1997.** Molecular cloning of 4-coumarate:coenzyme A ligase in loblolly pine and the roles of this enzyme in the biosynthesis of lignin in compression wood. *Plant Physiol.* **113**: 65-74.

Zheng P, Dan A, Yoshida M, Matsushita Y, Imai T, and Fukushima K 2014. Lignification of ray parenchyma cells in the xylem of *Pinus densiflora*. Part I: Microscopic investigation by POM, UV microscopy, and TOF-SIMS. *Holzforschung* 68:897.

. -

Zinser C, Jungblut T, Heller W, Seidlitz HK, Schnitzler J-, Ernst D, and Jr HS. 2000. The effect of ozone in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.): gene expression, biochemical changes and interactions with UV-B radiation. *Plant Cell Environ*. 23: 975-982.

' -

. -

Zinser C, Ernst D, and Sandermann Jr. H. 1998. Induction of stilbene synthase and cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase mRNAs in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) seedlings. *Planta* 204: 169-176.

- ,

- '